IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1082

PATRICK MATCHETT,

Petitioner,

-VS-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1960

LISA WALSH Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 964610

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

This is the Petitioner's brief on the merits requesting that this Court grant certiorari, quash the decision below, follow the prior decisions of this Court which are in express and direct conflict with the decision below on the same question of law. Petitioner, Patrick Matchett, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal; the Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal. The parties are referred to in this brief as Petitioner and Respondent. In this brief, the symbol "R" indicates the record on appeal, the symbol "T" indicates the transcripts of hearings, and the symbol "A." indicates the appendix to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Patrick Matchett was convicted following a jury trial on four charges, first degree murder, armed robbery, aggravated assault with a firearm and possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense. (R. 189). On count 1, first degree murder, The defendant was sentenced immediately following trial to life in prison with the possibility of parole in 25 years. (T. 761).

At a sentencing hearing, the trial court asked if anyone wished to be heard prior to pronouncing sentence, then sentenced the petitioner on counts 2, 3 and 4. (R. 218). ¹ On the remaining counts, the petitioner's recommended sentencing guidelines score was 17 to 22 years in prison, with a permitted range on 12 to 27 years in prison. (R. 187). The court sentenced the petitioner to a consecutive term of natural life in prison on count 2 and a consecutive five year term on count 3. (R. 217-18). On the fourth count, the court suspended sentence. (R. 218-19). The trial court did not enter into a written order delineating its reasons for upward departure from the guidelines. The crime was committed on June 9, 1991. (R. 1). The sentencing order was entered on

A fifth count, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, was severed by the trial court prior to trial. (T. 7). The defendant was separately charged in an unrelated information with another possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R. 204). Prior to sentencing on counts 2, 3 and 4, the state agreed to abandon the severed count in exchange for the petitioner's plea of guilt to the unrelated firearm charge. (R. 204).

October 9, 1997 (R. 193), the notice of appeal was dated November 6, 1997 and the Initial Brief was filed on October 27, 1998.

The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed in *Matchett v. State*, 755 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), *reh'g denied*, *clarification granted and opinion superceded*, holding that the failure of the trial court to file a written order setting forth its reasons for departure was not preserved. (A. 1-2). The petitioner filed a timely notice to invoke discretionary review, briefed jurisdiction and this Court has granted review.

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE PETITIONER'S UPWARD DEPARTURE SENTENCE MUST BE REVERSED AND REMANDED FOR IMPOSITION OF A GUIDELINES SENTENCE WHERE THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO FILE WRITTEN REASONS IN SUPPORT OF THE DEPARTURE, AND THIS ERROR CONSTITUTES FUNDAMENTAL SENTENCING ERROR WITHIN THE WINDOW PERIOD ESTABLISHED IN *Maddox v. State*, 760 So. 2d 89, 107 (Fla. 2000).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court held in *Maddox v. State*, 760 So. 2d 89, 106-07 (Fla. 2000), that the complete failure of a trial court to file written reasons for upward departure from the guidelines constitutes fundamental error which may be raised for the first time on direct appeal. The reason this Court concluded that this omission is an important on is that it "affects the integrity of the sentencing process concerning the critical question of the length of the sentence." *Id.* at 107.

This holding was limited to a window period between the enactment of section 924.051(3), Florida Statutes (1996 Supp.) and the enactment of the recent amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.111(e) and 3.800 and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h), 9.140 and 9.600, 761 So. 2d 1015 (Fla. 1999), *reh'g granted*, 761 So. 2d at 1025. The petitioner's case, initially briefed in October, 1998, falls within the window period. (A. 28).

Finally, the state's argument, that this sentence was part of a negotiated plea agreement should be rejected. The petitioner was sentenced following a jury trial on count 2 to a consecutive term of natural life in prison, the most severe upward departure possible. The fact that prior to sentencing the petitioner accepted a plea bargain on an unrelated gun charge and a fifth count of the indictment which had been severed prior to trial did not transform this life sentence into a "negotiated" plea.

ARGUMENT

THE PETITIONER'S UPWARD DEPARTURE SENTENCE MUST BE REVERSED AND REMANDED FOR IMPOSITION OF A GUIDELINES SENTENCE WHERE THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO FILE WRITTEN REASONS IN SUPPORT OF THE DEPARTURE, AND THIS ERROR CONSTITUTES FUNDAMENTAL SENTENCING ERROR WITHIN THE WINDOW PERIOD ESTABLISHED IN *Maddox v. State*, 760 So. 2d 89, 107 (Fla. 2000).

It is undisputed that the petitioner was sentenced on count 2 to an upward departure sentence of life in prison and trial judge in the instant case failed to contemporaneously file written reasons in support of an upward departure.

This Court held in *Maddox v. State*, 760 So. 2d 89, 106 (Fla. 2000) that departure sentences in which the trial court failed to file statutorily required written reasons for departure must be remanded for imposition of a guidelines sentence, in accordance with *Pope v. State*, 561 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1990) and *Ree v. State*, 565 So. 2d 1329 (Fla. 1990). This Court explained that

strict adherence to the requirement of a written order was required because a "departure sentence is an extraordinary punishment that requires serious and thoughtful attention by the trial court.

760 So. 2d at 107 (quoting Ree, 565 So. 2d at 1332.). This Court added:

We have also explained that written reasons for departure are statutorily required to enhance the uniformity of sentences.

See Davis v. State, 661 So. 2d 1193, 1196 (Fla. 1995); Smith v. State, 598 So. 2d 1063, 1067 (Fla. 1992); State v. Jackson, 478 So. 2d 1054, 1056 (Fla. 1985). Further, we recognized that requiring written reasons allows effective appellate review of the trial court's decision to depart. See, e.g., Jackson, 478 So. 2d at 1056. In fact, we considered the correction of this type of sentencing error so important to the sentencing decision that the failure to timely file reasons for departure resulted in the appellate court remanding for the imposition of a guidelines sentence. See Pope, 561 So. 2d at 554.

Maddox, 760 So. 2d at 107.

This Court clarified in *Collins v. State*, 766 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 2000), that the holding in *Maddox* is limited to those appeals filed in the window period between the recent amendments to the rules of criminal procedure in *Amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.111(e) and 3.800 and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h), 9.140 and 9.600, 761 So. 2d 1015 (Fla.), <i>reh'g granted*, 761 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 1999). The petitioner was sentenced on October 9, 1997 (R. 193), the Notice of Appeal was filed on November 6, 1997 (R. 224), and the initial brief was filed on October 27, 1998 and thus, this issue falls within the window period.

The Third District Court of Appeal's decision in the instant case represents an anomaly among the districts and in this Court. This Court and the First, Second, and Fifth Districts have reversed cases where defendants were similarly situated to the petitioner. *See Collins v. State*, 766 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 2000); *Thogode v. State*, 763 So.

2d 281 (Fla. 2000); *Collins v. State*, 765 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000); *Butler v. State*, 765 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000); *Forman v. State*, 2000 WL 1629333 (Fla. 2d DCA November 1, 2000); *Perry v. State*, 2000 WL 1475727 (Fla. 5th DCA October 6, 2000); *Ward v. State*, 756 So. 2d 299 (Fla. 2000). While the Fourth District Court of Appeal has not, since *Maddox*, reviewed a case analogous to the petitioner's, the court held in *Carridine v. State*, 721 So. 2d 818 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) that the failure of the trial court to timely sign a departure checklist warranted a reversal and remand within the guidelines. The Third District is the only court of this state which has denied relief on this issue, citing preservation as its justification.

The Third District affirmed this sentence on the ground that it was not preserved, relying upon *Weiss v. State*, 720 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), *review granted*, 729 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 1999), *decision approved* 761 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2000). The Third District's reliance upon *Weiss* was misplaced. This Court in *Maddox* distinguished the error in *Weiss* -- late filing of written reasons -- from the error that occurred in the instant case -- complete failure to file written reasons -- and held that the complete failure to file written reasons may be raised for the first time on direct appeal. Late filing, however, does not constitute fundamental error and may not be raised on direct appeal unless preserved. *Maddox*, 760 So. 2d at 108. Where the trial court in the instant case failed to file written reasons at any time, *Weiss* does not apply. The

petitioner's sentence on count 2 should be vacated and remanded for imposition of a guidelines sentence.²

Wherefore, this Court, following *Maddox*, should vacate the petitioner's sentence on count 2 and remand for imposition of a guidelines sentence.

² The State argued in its Brief on Jurisdiction that the petitioner is not entitled to relief where his sentence was part of a negotiated plea bargain. This argument is fallacious. Prior to sentencing, the petitioner entered a plea of guilt on an unrelated gun charge and a fifth count of the indictment, which had been severed prior to trial. (R. 208-18). Thereafter, the court, stating its reason for departure, pronounced sentence on counts 2, 3 and 4. (R. 217-18). The fact that the petitioner entered a plea bargain that was unrelated to the jury verdict did not transform this upward departure sentence -- to natural life in prison-- into a negotiated plea bargain. The petitioner did not "agree" to an upward departure sentence. Nothing about this life sentence was "negotiated." Any argument by the State to the contrary should be rejected.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court quash the lower court's opinion in *Matchett v. State*, 755 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), and remand for resentencing within the guidelines.