IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1082

PATRICK MATCHETT

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND Assistant Attorney General

Florida Bar Number 0239437 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Ave., Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 fax 377-5655

ROBERTA G. MANDEL
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar Number 0435953

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner PATRICK MATCHETT was the Defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. The Respondent, The State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The symbol "A." will refer to the documents attached to the Petitioner's appendix. The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal, and the symbol "T" will refer to the transcripts of the lower court hearings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts the Defendant's statement of the case and facts as substantially correct. The State reserves the right to expand upon the facts in the argument section of this brief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court stated in Maddox v. State, 760 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 2000), that the Court did not intend to recede from the Court's previous cases holding that the failure to file written reasons for imposing a departure sentence pursuant to a negotiated plea agreement does not constitute reversible error. Maddox v.State, 760 So. 2d 89, 107 citing State v. Williams, 667 So. 2d 191, 193-194 (Fla. 1996).

The defendant readily entered into a valid plea bargain in which the State abandoned count five of the information, and the defendant agreed to enter a no contest plea and be sentenced to fifteen years on the felony count, with four and a half years credit time served. The sentence imposed in the defendant's other criminal case, circuit court case no. 91-10995B was imposed to run concurrently with the sentence involved in the instant case. (R. 210, 214, 215). Since the failure to file written reasons for departure is NOT fundamental error where the defendant agreed to the imposition of the departure sentence in the plea agreement, pursuant to this Court's decision in Maddox, this Court should affirm the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

THE PETITIONER'S UPWARD DEPARTURE SENTENCE MUST BE AFFIRMED WHERE THE TRIAL COURT'S ALLEGED FAILURE TO FILE WRITTEN REASONS JUSTIFYING THE UPWARD DEPARTURE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW AND WHERE THE FAILURE TO FILE WRITTEN REASONS TO SUPPORT A DEPARTURE SENTENCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A PREJUDICIAL ERROR PURSUANT TO THIS COURT'S DECISION IN MADDOX V. STATE, 760 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 2000).

Section 924.051(3), Section 924.051(4) Florida Statutes (1999) and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140 provide that a sentencing error can ONLY be heard on direct appeal if the error was brought to the attention of the trial court at the time of sentencing or by motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b). It is undisputed that the defendant failed to object with regard to the sentence imposed. Consequently the issue wasn't preserved for appellate review.

The Third District Court of Appeal appropriately affirmed the defendant's sentence given the fact that the issue was not preserved and appropriately relied upon its' earlier decision in Weiss v. State, 720 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), review granted, 729 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 1999), decision approved, 761 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2000). In Weiss v. State, the Third District Court of Appeal held that even where a technical error occurs, it may not be made the basis of reversal under the operative provisions of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996, Section 924.051, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996), which requires BOTH preservation and harm.

A departure sentence wasn't precluded in the instant case as there is absolutely no requirement that the defendant be sentenced within the sentencing guidelines. As the Third District Court of Appeal noted in Jordan v. State, 728 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), decision approved 25 Fla. Law Weekly S499 (Fla. June 22, 2000), "the phrase 'pursuant to the sentencing guidelines' is a generic reference to all of the provisions of the guidelines which will allow upward departures where statutory or case law criteria are met." Id. The Court in Jordan, recognized that a prejudicial error is an error in the trial court that harmfully affected the judgment or sentence. This Court and the Florida Legislature have both concluded that sentencing errors should be treated the same as other trial errors. As the Court in Jordan noted, where a defendant fails to file a Rule 3.800(b) motion to correct a sentencing error, the defendant is barred because the point was not preserved. The point is also not deemed to be one which would constitute fundamental error. The Court reasoned that the entire point of the statutory and rule changes was to require this type of claim to be presented in the first instance in the trial court.

Even if this Court contends that the trial court erred in not filing departure reasons, a review of the record indicates that the error constituted no more than nonprejudicial harmless error. In the instant case the defendant was sentenced to life on

count II. Count II charged the defendant with armed robbery pursuant to Sections 812.13 and 775.087, Florida Statutes. A review of Section 812.13(2)(a) reveals that the statutory maximum for the offense was for a term of years not exceeding life imprisonment. This case, therefore, does not involve an alleged sentencing error which is in excess of the statutory maximum. Clearly, even where the defendant has pleaded guilty, the trial court may not impose a sentence exceeding the statutory maximum. Maddox v. State, 760 So. 2d at 101. Clearly patent and serious sentencing errors can be corrected on direct appeal as fundamental error. 760 So. 2d at 101. In the instant case, this Court isn't faced with an unpreserved error which resulted in a sentence in excess of the statutory maximum.

In the instant case, defense counsel asked the court to run the defendant's sentence in counts two and three concurrent with the first count. He noted that the defendant was already sentenced to a life sentence in count one. (R. 217). Defense counsel specifically noted that "a life sentence is sufficient in this case." (R. 218). The Count noted that in count one, the Court had already imposed a life sentence without eligibility for parole for 25 years. The trial court thereafter imposed a life sentence on count two, to run consecutive to the sentence in count one of the indictment. The three year minimum mandatory sentence would also run consecutive to the sentence imposed. (R.

218-219). As noted above, the defendant failed to object to the sentence imposed.

Further review of the transcript reveals that the State asked the Court to go above the guidelines because according to the guideline score sheet, as to the first degree murder, there was no place for it to even be scored. (R. 215). The State reiterated that there were grounds to go above the guidelines. (R. 215). The State asked the Court to sentence the defendant to the maximum on each offense and to make it consecutive to the sentence which had already been imposed. The State argued that the sentence could be consecutive because there was evidence that the defendant committed a premeditated first degree murder. to the robbery count, the State asked that the sentence run consecutive to the 25-year minimum mandatory imposed. So, the defendant would then have 28 years of minimum mandatory total. (R. 216). Defense counsel merely asked the trial judge to run the sentence concurrent since the defendant was already going to serve a life sentence. (R. 217). The State would respectfully submit that there was NO need to file written departure reasons, where the trial court did not depart from accurate sentencing guidelines. The prosecutor merely requested that the court sentence the defendant to the maximum on each offense. It is clear that as the prosecutor pointed out, without objection, the first degree murder wasn't scored in formulating the sentencing

guidelines score sheet. (R. 215).

The defendant readily entered into a valid plea bargain in which the State abandoned count five of the information, and the defendant agreed to enter a no contest plea and be sentenced to 15 years on the felony count, with four and a half years credit time served. The sentence imposed in case no. 91-10995B was imposed to run concurrently with the sentence involved in the instant case. (R. 210, 214, 215).

In <u>Maddox v. State</u>, this Court distinguished between departure sentences involving those sentences which involved a negotiated plea. This Court specifically stated that a valid plea agreement constitutes clear and convincing grounds for the trial judge to impose a departure sentence, citing to this Court's earlier decision in <u>State v. Williams</u>, 667 So. 2d 191, 193-194 (Fla. 1996).

In <u>Maddox</u>, as noted above, this Court distinguished between those defendants who agreed to the imposition of a departure sentence in a plea agreement and those defendants, who did not. In <u>Collins v. State</u>, 766 So. 2d 1009, 1010 (Fla. 2000), this Court specifically stated as follows with regard to its' earlier ruling in <u>Maddox</u>: "We stated in <u>Maddox</u> that we did not intend to recede from our previous cases holding that the failure to file written reasons for imposing a departure sentence pursuant to a negotiated plea agreement does not constitute reversible error."

The defendant's appeal does not fit into the narrow class of unpreserved sentencing errors which can be raised on direct appeal as fundamental error as defined by this Court's decision in Maddox v. State. The failure to file written reasons for departure is NOT fundamental error where the defendant agreed to the imposition of the departure sentence in the plea agreement. This Court should affirm the defendant's judgment of conviction and sentence.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the authorities and arguments cited herein, this Court should affirm the Third District's opinion in <u>Matchett v. State</u>, 755 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000).